1986

# James Thomas Trent v. June Sharon Trent : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF THE CASE

In a post-decree proceeding the plaintiff brought an order to show cause on 10 May, 1985, seeking a modification of the Decree of Divorce entered on January 15, 1980. Defendant, on July 8, 1985, filed a motion to dismiss pursuant to Title 78-45c-7 of the Utah Code Annotated, 1953 as amended, for an order dismissing the plaintiff's order to show cause on the grounds of an inconvenient forum.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

The court denied defendant's motion. This appeal is taken from the denial.

### RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Defendant seeks reversal of the order denying defendant's motion to dismiss.

### STATEMENT OF FACTS

1. On the 15th day of January, 1980, the plaintiff obtained a Decree of Divorce from the defendant in Utah County, State of Utah.

2. Paragraph 2 of the Decree of Divorce provided that the defendant was a fit and proper person to have the care, custody and control of the children subject to the visitation rights of the plaintiff.

3. The children have never been in the State of Utah. Their home is in Boise, Idaho. The children and the defendant have resided at 2356 Warm Springs Avenue, Boise, Idaho, since December 1, 1978.

4. On the 10th day of May, 1985, the plaintiff obtained an order to show cause from the Fourth District Court of the State of Utah seeking to have the defendant held in contempt and seeking further adjudication with respect to visitation.

5. On the 2nd day of July, 1985, the 1980 Utah County decree of divorce was filed in the Fourth Judicial District of the State of Idaho, Ada County.

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The appellant and her children, since July, 1979, have

lived in Ada County, Idaho. Because they have had no contacts with the state of Utah, appellant believes the court erred in not granting her motion to dismiss respondent's motion to modify the Utah decree.

#### APPLICABLE STATUTES

Title 78-45c-7 of the Utah Code Annotated, 1953, as amended, also called the Uniform Child Custody Jurisdiction Act, hereinafter referred to "Uniform Act" in material part, provides:

(1) A court which has jurisdiction under this act to make an initial or modification decree may decline to exercise its jurisdiction any time before making a decree if it finds that it is an inconvenient forum to make a custody determination under the circumstances of the case and that a court of another state is a more appropriate forum.

(2) A finding of inconvenient forum may be made upon the court's own motion or upon motion of a party or a guardian ad litem or other representative of the child;

(3) In determining if it is an inconvenient forum the court shall consider if it is in the interest of the child that another state assume jurisdiction. For this purpose it may take into account the following factors, among others:

(a) If another state is or recently was the child's home state;

(b) If another state has a closer connection with the child and his family or with the child and one or more of the contestants;

(c) If substantial evidence concerning the child's present or future care, protection, training, and personal relationships is more readily available in another state;

(d) If the parties have agreed on another forum which



is no less appropriate; and

(e) If the exercise of jurisdiction by a court of this state would contravene any of the purposes stated in section 78-45c-1. ...

Section (c) 78-45c-1 Utah Code Annotated, 1953 as amended, provides in material part:

(c) Assure that litigation concerning the custody of a child take place ordinarily in the state with which the child and his family have the closest connection and where significant evidence concerning his care, protection, training, and personal relationships is most readily available, and that courts of this state decline the exercise of jurisdiction when the child and his family have a closer connection with another state; ...

Title 75-45c-2(5) Utah Code Annotated, 1953 as amended, defines "home state" as:

"Home state " means the state in which the child immediately preceding the time involved lived with his parents, a parent, or a person acting as a parent, for at least six consecutive months, and in the case of a child less than six months old the state in which the child lived from birth with any of the persons mentioned. Periods of temporary absence of any of the named persons are counted as part of the six-month or other period;

#### ARGUMENT

#### POINT I

THE UTAH DISTRICT COURT SHOULD HAVE DECLINED TO EXERCISE ITS JURISDICTION IN THE ABOVE ENTITLED CASE.

The question presented to the lower court was whether, under the circumstances as set forth in the facts above, the Utah court ought to decline to exercise its jurisdiction.

There do not appear to be Utah cases which have inter-

preted Title 78-45c-7 Utah Code Annotated, 1953 as amended. However, the court, in Coppedge v. Harding, 22 Utah Adv. Rep. 21, did deal with 78-45c-6 of the Utah Code Annotated. There are many cases which have dealt with the subject. Some of those are treated in 96 ALR 3d 969. An analysis of all of the cases contained in that annotation will not be undertaken here for the reason the facts covered in this case would be inapplicable to most of those cases.

An analysis of the facts of this case as they apply to the Uniform Act may however, be helpful. Clearly, the Utah court has jurisdiction. The decree was entered here. See Title 30-3-5, Utah Code Annotated, 1953 as amended. However, to determine if the Utah forum is in inconvenient forum for modification proceedings as it relates to custody, several factors may be considered. For example, a threshold question is generally asked with regard to which state is the child's home state. Other inquiries are made with regard to which state has closer connection with the child, in which state evidence can be found concerning the child's care, protection, training and personal relationships. An important question is whether the exercise of jurisdiction in the particular forum would contravene any of the purposes stated in Title 78-45c-1(c) Utah Code Annotated, 1953 as amended, which provides:

Assure that litigation concerning the custody

of a child take place ordinarily in the state with which the child and his family have the closest connection and where significant evidence concerning his care, protection, training, and personal relationships is most readily available, and that courts of this state decline the exercise of jurisdiction when the child and his family have a closer connection with another state;

To answer these questions one need only to look at the defendant's affidavit. The State of Idaho is the home state, (§ 4 and § 7, defendant's affidavit). The children have never lived in the State of Utah and have lived in the State of Idaho for the past six years. The State of Idaho is the only state which has contacts with these children. The evidence regarding the personal care, training and relationships does not exist in Utah. The only relationship the children have with Utah is their father lives here.

The exercise of jurisdiction in the State of Utah would contravene the purposes of Title 78-45c-1(c) Utah Code Annotated, 1953 as amended. It should be obvious in this case the litigation of visitation has taken place in a state where the children have never been, a state they have no connection with, and where literally no evidence exists regarding relationships and where there is no evidence regarding their training. Clearly, the exercise of jurisdiction contravenes the very significant purpose outlined in 78-45c-1(c) Utah Code Annotated, 1953 as amended.

A helpful case to examine is Szmyd v. Szmyd, 641 P. 2d 14

(1982, Alaska). In that case the parties were divorced in Alaska on October 12, 1977. The non-custodial parent, father, continued to live in Alaska. The mother, the custodial parent, moved to Washington in the Fall of 1978. On December 5, 1980, the father moved the court to modify the Alaskan decree. The mother responded by moving to deny his petition on the grounds Alaska was an inconvenient forum. The district court concluded it ought to exercise its jurisdiction. The case was remanded to the trial court for a statement of the reasons for its refusal to dismiss. The trial court thereafter submitted its statement and the Alaskan Supreme Court concluded the trial court should have dismissed or stayed the case on inconvenient forum grounds.

In arriving at the result it focused on the child. The court said at page 20:

The underlying theme in these decisions is the focus of the child's situation and connections with a particular forum;...

#### CONCLUSION

Because the only association or connection the children have with the State of Utah is the fact the father lives here, the court should not have denied plaintiff's motion to dismiss.