1986

Mannes - Vale, Inc. v. Robert K. Vale : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF ISSUE PRESENTED ON APPEAL

The issue in this case is whether it was proper for the Industrial Commission to implement the rulings of two Utah Supreme Court cases which determined that there is no statute of limitations on workers' claims for medical expenses by awarding medical benefits to Mr. Robert K. Vale.

PROVISION WHOSE INTERPRETATION IS DETERMINATIVE

U.C.A., 1953, § 35-1-78 (Supp. 1985)

The powers and jurisdiction of the commission over each case shall be continuing, and it may from time to time make such modification or change with respect to former findings, or orders with respect thereto, as in its opinion may be justified, provided, however, that records pertaining to cases, other than those of total permanent disability or where a claim has been filed as in 35-1-99, which have been closed and inactive for a period of 10 years, may be destroyed at the discretion of the commission.

Awards made by the Industrial Commission shall include interest at the rate of 8% per annum from the date when each benefit payment would have otherwise become due and payable.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Applicant, Robert K. Vale, suffered injuries to his eye, ear and shoulder from an industrial accident that occurred on June 3, 1968. (R. 3, 31, 33) Mr. Vale received medical benefits and temporary-total disability through August 23, 1971. (R. 33) Additional medical benefits were claimed by Mr. Vale in 1974, and a payment of \$675.00 was made by Defendant Fund on September 17, 1975. (R. 5) Other medical expense claims of Mr. Vale were refused by the Fund. (R. 33)

A hearing was held on November 29, 1976, in which Mr. Vale sought an award of additional compensation and benefits. (R. 9, 33-37) On December 9, 1976, the Administrative Law Judge issued an order denying compensation and medical benefits incurred on the ground that the statutes of limitations had run. (R. 33-37, Appendix 1)

Mr. Vale filed a Motion for Review on December 27, 1976, and the Defendant Fund filed a Memorandum in Response on April 21, 1977. (R. 39-46, 48-56) The Industrial Commission affirmed the Decision of the Administration Law Judge on May 17, 1977. (R. 58, Appendix 2)

Mr. Vale communicated with the Fund beginning in 1983 and continuing through early January, 1985 in an effort to secure payment for medical benefits under the doctrine of a 1982 Utah Supreme Court case to the specific affect that there is no statute of limitations for medical expenses. (R. 62-82) This effort to secure medical payments was rejected by the Fund. (R.82)

On March 6, 1985, Mr. Vale filed a petition to reopen his case (R. 85) on a printed form entitled "APPLICATION FOR HEARING," thereby seeking medical benefits through order of the Industrial Commission. The Insurance Fund responded through two letters. (R. 88, 90-91) The Industrial Commission issued its order on July 12, 1985, granting to Mr. Vale medical benefits. (R. 93-96, Appendix 3).

On August 19, 1985 Defendant Insurance Fund filed a Motion for Review. On September 4, 1985 the Commission issued its Denial of Motion for Review and affirmed the award of medical payments to Mr. Vale for the period following the Commission's denial of the Fund's Motion for Review of May 17, 1977. (R. 106-109, Appendix 4).

Defendant State Insurance Fund then petitioned this Court for review, seeking reversal of the Industrial Commission's award of those medical payments to Mr. Vale.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Industrial Commission ruled correctly in awarding medical benefits to applicant Robert K. Vale because the Commission was implementing the decisions of this Court that there is no statute of limitations for medical expenses, or because the Commission was properly exercising its continuing jurisdiction, or both.

ARGUMENT

THE INDUSTRIAL COMMISSION'S ORDER GRANTING TO MR. VALE PAYMENT OF MEDICAL EXPENSES INCURRED AFTER MAY 17, 1977 SHOULD BE UPHELD SINCE THE ORDER WAS ISSUED UNDER RULINGS OF THE UTAH SUPREME COURT AND PURSUANT TO LAW AND EQUITY.

The Industrial Commission's 1985 award of medical expenses to Mr. Vale for the period following its earlier, 1977, order was correct because following that 1977 order the Utah Supreme Court declared that once an industrial accident was established there is no statute of limitations on a claim for such expenses. In Christensen v. Industrial Commission, Utah, 642 P.2d 755, 757 (1982) the Court confirmed that "'compensation,' as used in the final sentence of section 35-1-99, does not include payments for medical expenses." Hence, in the language of Kennecott Copper Corp. v. Industrial Commission, Utah, 597 P.2d 875, 877 (1979), which the Court in Christensen quoted, once it is determined that there was an industrial accident "there is no limitation as to the time during which the medicals must continue to be furnished."

Here, there was never any question about the existence of an industrial accident. (R. 3, 31, 33, Defendants Brief at 1)¹ Thus, there is no statute of limitations bar to Mr. Vale's claims for medical expenses.

¹ The Insurance Fund had even made a payment of medical expenses on September 17, 1975 (R. 33), less than a year before Mr. Vale filed his claim. (R. 3). In addition to supporting the fact that an industrial accident had occurred, the payment establishes that, even if U.C.A., 1953, § 35-1-99 (1985 Supp.) were considered to be a statute of limitation for medical claims, contrary to Kennecott Copper and Christensen, the requirement of § 35-1-99 that the claim be filed "within three years from . . . the date of the last payment of compensation" was satisfied.

The Insurance Fund asserts, nevertheless, that the 1977 decision of the Commission based on the 1976 ruling of the Administrative Law Judge is res judicata in this action and bars Mr. Vale's recover despite Kennecott Copper and Christensen. It argues that the Commission never acquired jurisdiction and hence could not have continuing jurisdiction under U.C.A. 1953, § 35-1-78 (1985 Supp.) to award Mr. Vale his post-1977 medical expenses.

The Commission did have jurisdiction. The claim that the statute of limitations has run is an affirmative defense. Kimball v. McCormick, 70 U. 189, 259 P. 313 (1927). It is pleaded specifically to the effect that an action is barred by the statute of limitations. Rule 9(h), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. It was not treated as a jurisdictional matter in either the Kennecott Copper or the Christensen case. It simply is not a predicate for a ruling on the question of subject matter jurisdiction.

The term "without jurisdiction" is sometimes properly used in a general sense as the equivalent of "without discretion."² It was so used by the Administrative Law Judge in his December 9, 1976 Order. (R. 36) His phrase was, "the Commission is without jurisdiction to do other than dismiss the application." Id. At the same time, he rendered a decision on the merits, saying the application "should be denied" and

² "'It [Jurisdiction] is a term in general use, . . . having different meanings, dependent on the connection in which it is found and the subject matter to which it is directed', and it is in fact 'often used without any determinate signification.'" General Trades School v. United States, 212 F.2d 656 (8th Cir. 1954), quoting 50 C.J.S. at 1089-90.

ordering "that the Claimant's application for compensation be, and is hereby, denied." Id. The Commission affirmed the order, in its terms, "wherein the applicant's claim for compensation was denied." Id. at 58.

Having taken jurisdiction and rendered a decision on the merits on the basis of an affirmative defense, the Commission has continuing jurisdiction under U.C.A., 1953, 35-1-78 (1985 Supp.). Through this continuing jurisdiction it can give effect to the rulings and policies enunciated by this Court. It has done so in this case. Moreover, by implementing the Kennecott Copper and Christensen rulings through its 1985 award of medical benefits to Mr. Vale, the Commission not only complied with the law of this Court, but at the same time advanced the policy of the worker's compensation law. That policy is, of course, that the law be liberally applied in favor of coverage of the employee in order to alleviate the hardships that result from industrial accidents. Baker v. Industrial Commission, 17 Utah 2d 141, 405 P.2d 613 (1965); M & K Corp. v. Industrial Commission, 112 Utah 488, 189 P.2d 132 (1948); Park Utah Consol. Mines Co. v. Industrial Commission, 84 Utah 481; 36 P.2d 979 (1934). See also, Marshall v. Industrial Commission, Utah 704 P.2d 581 (1985).

The Insurance Fund cites United States Smelting, Refining and Mining Co. v. Nielson, 19 Utah 2d 239, 430 P.2d 162 (1967), as a bar to the continuing jurisdiction of the Commission in this case. In Nielson the Court construed U.C.A., 1953, § 35-1-78 "to mean the Commission has continuing jurisdiction only

during the period of the limitations statutes" involved. 19 Utah 2d at 242, 430 P.2d at 164. But in the instant case involving medical expenses, there is no statute of limitation because of the rulings in Kennecott Copper and Christensen. Nielson, therefore, does not cut off Mr. Vale's right to recover medical expenses.

A separate element which prevents the 1977 decision of the Commission from being a res judicata bar to Mr. Vale's claim is that the 1977 decision was not final in the sense necessary to give it res judicata effect. (The Fund acknowledges at page 4 of its brief that res judicata can not take effect unless the judgment in question is "final.") Since the Commission had exercised jurisdiction in the case, and therefore has continuing jurisdiction under U.C.A., 1953, 35-1-78 (1985 Supp.), further proceedings "were possible which might alter or upset the judgment," (Brief of State Insurance Fund at 4) and therefore there was no final judgment upon which res judicata could be based.

Res judicata should not apply at all in this case. But even if it did, it would not bar recovery for the post-1977 medical expenses of the claimant. The issue decided by the Commission in 1977 was whether or not the statute of limitations of U.C.A., 1953, § 35-1-99 (Supp. 1985) barred claims for medical expenses to the time of the 1977 hearing. The Commission said in its 1977 ruling (though erroneously it is now clear in the wake of the cases) that those claims were barred by the statute. The claims which the Commission honored under Kennecott Copper and

Christensen in its Orders of July 12, 1985 (R. 93-96), and September 4, 1985 (R. 106-10), had not previously been ruled on. As to them there previously had been no judgment, and therefore they are not barred by the doctrine of res judicata.

Defendant Fund relied in its brief on the Restatement of Judgments. Under the Restatement itself, however, even if the 1977 ruling of the Industrial Commission were found to be a ruling on the question of subject matter jurisdiction, that question can be relitigated where, as here, "[a]llowing the judgment to stand would substantially infringe the authority of another tribunal." Restatement Second, Judgments, § 12(2). The Court's rulings in Kennecott Copper and Christensen would be rendered meaningless if they could be avoided by incarceration of the Commission's decision in a linguistic prison called "no jurisdiction." See also, Restatement Second, Judgments, § 16 (allowing for setting aside of a judgment, such as the 1977 order, which was based on an earlier judgment, such as rulings prior to Kennecott Copper and Christensen, and which was nullified by a later judgment, such as Kennecott Copper and Christensen).

Also, under Restatement Second, Judgements, § 83(2)(d), rules of res judicata do not apply to an administrative decision if the decision is not final. And under Kennecott Copper and Christensen, no ruling of the Commission on a bona fide industrial-accident-claim for medical expenses can be considered final for purposes of the running of the statute of limitations because those cases have held there is no such statute of